EVIDENCE-BASED RECOMMENDATIONS FOR LABELLING OF ALCOHOL PRODUCTS IN CANADA



Developed by the Canadian Alcohol Policy Evaluation (CAPE) 3.0 Project Team

Tim Naimi, Norman Giesbrecht, Tim Stockwell, Mark Asbridge, Marilou Gagnon, Geoff Hynes, Gerald Thomas, Kara Thompson, Jacob Shelley, Kevin Shield, Robert Solomon, Adam Sherk, Kate Vallance, Ashley Wettlaufer

June 2022

Contents

1.	Overview	3		
2.	Mandatory labelling of alcohol products, inscribed in legislation and defined in regulation	3		
3.	Type of health message labels on alcohol products			
4.	Recommended content for health message labels on alcohol products	5		
5.	Display of health messages and rotation of health warning message label content	7		
6.	Prominence of the label - mandatory location, size, and colour	7		
7.	Pictorial content of labels	7		
8.	Alcohol industry involvement	7		
9.	Review and evaluation of health messages	7		
10. char	10. Evidence related to alcohol warning labels, real-world evaluations, and impacts on behaviour change8			
References				
Appendix A: Examples of alcohol health information labels13				
Appendix B: Examples of cannabis and tobacco warning labels13				
Appendix C: Examples of standard drink information labels13				
Appendix D: Examples of manufacturer-initiated changes to product packaging including full-colour packaging and labelling				

1. Overview

The following recommendations focus on evidence-based alcohol health messaging for labelling of alcohol products in Canada. Recommendations include:

- A rotating display of mandatory front-of-package labels with adequate health warning messages that are reviewed and updated regularly covering six defined topic areas (E.g. Cancer risk, other health impacts, violence, pregnancy-related risks, impaired driving, and harms to youth).
- Static standard drink information (i.e., number of drinks per container) paired with Canada's forthcoming national alcohol drinking guideline information.
- These label components should be prominently displayed on the container in terms of their proportion of the display panel, legibility, contrasting colours, and supporting pictorials.

Providing nutrition information in the form of a *mandatory <u>simplified nutrition facts table</u> with <i>calorie content* on all alcohol products is also recommended (see <u>labelling regulations</u> in Ireland). This information is already mandatory for <u>some alcohol products</u> in Canada, and the simplified nutrition facts panel is an already well-established labelling tool; it is recommended that these labelling requirements become mandatory for all alcohol products. It is important to note that initiating implementation of nutrition information for all alcohol products should be considered a lower priority than health messaging and, if necessary, addressed through a separate process to ensure that it does not impede implementation of health messages.

2. Mandatory labelling of alcohol products, inscribed in legislation and defined in regulation

Mandatory labelling of all alcohol products with health messaging that is inscribed in legislation and set in regulation, rather than voluntary or industry self-regulatory labelling (Stockwell et al., 2019; Wettlaufer et al., 2019; WHO, 2022; PAHO, 2022), should be pursued by the federal government of Canada. Ireland's Public Health (Alcohol) Act provides a strong model to follow as it includes provisions allowing the Minister of Health to prescribe the size, style and message content of their health warning messages on alcohol products (Government of Ireland, 2018).

The label content for alcohol products, like other legislated labelling requirements (e.g. for <u>cannabis</u> and <u>tobacco</u> products), should be set in regulation as a requirement of manufacturer labelling and either printed on, or securely applied to (e.g. an adhesive label) a container (Stockwell et al., 2019). It should not fall off or be easily removed during transportation or normal use of the product.

3. Type of health message labels on alcohol products

The following is recommended as the type of mandatory alcohol health messaging for labelling of alcohol containers that should be implemented in Canada for all alcohol products. Note: Nutrition labelling is already mandatory for some alcohol products in Canada. These labelling guidelines should be applied to all alcohol products.

Health warning messages, standard drink information, and national alcohol drinking guidelines

Front-of-package rotating health warning messages (six recommended topic areas outlined in Section 4.1) paired with static standard drink information and national alcohol drinking guidelines.

3.1 Rationale for proposed health message labels

Manufacturers have a duty to warn consumers of any risks inherent in the use of a product and provide consumers with adequate information to make an informed choice concerning use of the product. This standard of care is heightened when the product is intended for human consumption (Shelley, 2021). Health message labels on alcohol products should provide consumers with adequate (i.e., clear, complete, and current) information to make an informed health decision regarding use of the product. More specifically, an **adequate warning** shall meet the following criteria (Shelley, 2021):

- Communicated clearly and understandably
- Communicated in a manner calculated to inform the user of the nature of the risk and extent of danger
- Communicated in terms commensurate with the gravity of the potential hazard
- Must be explicit
- Should not be neutralized or negated by collateral efforts on the part of the manufacturer.
- Keep abreast of scientific developments
- Warn consumers of new risks

For alcohol, an **adequate warning** includes information about 1) the risks associated with alcohol use (Weerasinghe et al., 2020; WHO, 2022; PAHO, 2022), 2) national alcohol drinking guidelines (Schoueri-Mychasiw et al., 2020) as a tool to help make informed choices to mitigate those risks, along with 3) standard drink information in order to accurately make use of the drinking guidelines (Stockwell et al., 2019; Wettlaufer et al., 2019; Osiowy et al., 2015; Wettlaufer, 2017; NASAC, 2015). Regulations should account for updated messaging to be added as research evidence evolves and/or patterns of use and alcohol-caused harms in Canada shift (Shelley, 2021).

It is critical that consumers understand the risks they are navigating given the well-established risks of consuming ethanol (IARC, 2010) and the significant burden of disease associated with its use (Shield et al., 2020). Health warning messages on alcohol containers play a role in raising awareness of health risks associated with alcohol use and address consumers' right to know of such risks, which is currently being denied. Increased awareness of the risks associated with alcohol is associated with decreased purchasing occasions, decreased drinking occasions, slower drinking rates, and greater support for other alcohol control measures such as minimum pricing (Zhao et al., 2020; Weerasinghe et al., 2020; WHO, 2022). Further, the evidence consistently shows that comprehensive health warning labels on tobacco products influence social norms around tobacco use, improve health knowledge, and help to curb consumption (WHO, 2022). See Kokole et al., 2021 for a recent scoping review of the evidence for potential impact of health warning messages on alcohol products.

The national alcohol drinking guidelines and standard drink information should be adequately conveyed alongside the risks associated with alcohol use to support individuals in making choices about their health. The majority of Canadians are not aware of the national alcohol drinking guidelines (CADUMS, 2012; Sherk, 2019; Vallance et al., 2020b). Standard drink information provides complimentary and synergistic information in relation to the guidelines. The evidence is clear that individuals are not familiar with the concept and/or definition of a standard drink, which are both necessary information in order to make use of the national alcohol drinking guidelines (Wettlaufer, 2018).

4. Recommended content for health message labels on alcohol products

4.1 Recommended content of rotating health warning messages

Mandatory front-of-packaging health warning messages should include the following six warning topics, listed in priority sequence (WHO, 2022; Stockwell et al., 2019; Wettlaufer et al., 2019; CAPE, 2022). Note sample warning messages under each topic area are provided for illustrative purposes.

- a) **Series of cancer warnings** listing the different types of cancer alcohol plays a causal role *E.g. Warning: Alcohol use causes several types of cancer, including female breast cancer, oral cavity, pharynx, larynx, esophagus; and cancers of the colon, rectum, and liver; Warning: Alcohol consumption increases your risk of breast, colorectal and other cancers; Warning: There is a direct link between alcohol and fatal cancers; Warning: Alcohol causes cancer by damaging and disrupting the normal function of cells in the body.*
- b) Series of general health warnings that refer to increased risk of specific diseases as well as alcohol as a component cause for 200+ different conditions
 E.g. Warning: Every individual drink consumed shortens life expectancy by about 5 minutes; Warning: One standard drink consumed every day shortens life expectancy by about 3 months; Warning: Warning: Alcohol use is a contributing cause of more than 200 diseases and health conditions; Warning: Alcohol use causes liver disease.
- c) Series of fetal alcohol/fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FAS/FASD) and pregnancy warnings that also mentions the risk of consuming alcohol while breastfeeding or when you may become pregnant. It should be noted that the risks associated with alcohol use before and during pregnancy, and while breastfeeding is an important, highly sensitive and potentially stigmatizing topic. Specific attention should be paid to the development of these warning messages including applying a gender and culture lens and involving a range of priority populations such as different socioeconomic groups and people with lived and living experience.

E.g., Warning: Alcohol use during pregnancy increases the risk of lifelong harm to your child; Warning: Do not use alcohol if you are pregnant or breastfeeding; Warning: the safest choice is not to drink alcohol at all when you are pregnant or may become pregnant.

- d) **Series of violence related health warnings** that highlight the role alcohol plays in violence, including violent assault, sexual assault, and intimate partner violence. It should be noted that the role alcohol plays in sexual violence is an important, highly sensitive, and potentially stigmatizing topic. Specific attention should be paid to the development of these warning messages including applying a gender and culture lens, and involving a range of priority populations such as different socioeconomic groups and people with lived and living experience. *E.g. Warning: Alcohol increases aggressive and violent behaviour by disrupting normal brain function; Warning: Alcohol is a main risk factor that contributes to sexual violence.*
- e) Series of impaired driving messages with specific information beyond standard "Don't drink and drive" messages.

E.g., Warning: Even one drink can affect your ability to operate a motorized vehicle or heavy machinery; Warning: Alcohol affected driving is a leading cause of death on the road; Warning: Drinking alcohol reduces your ability to drive safely. Alcohol affects your judgement, vision,

coordination and reflexes—increasing your risk of having a crash; Warning: If you have consumed alcohol, it is against the law to drive a vehicle if the level of alcohol in your blood or breath is over the alcohol limit for the licence you hold or the vehicle that you want to drive.

f) **Series of youth/young adult warning messages** about increased risk of harm from alcohol. *E.g., Warning: Alcohol use negatively affects brain development among youth and young adults; Warning: alcohol-related traffic crashes are a major cause of death among young people.*

The authority mandating the alcohol health messages (i.e., Health Canada) should be prominently identified on each label as per <u>tobacco</u> and <u>cannabis</u> requirements. Signal words such as "Warning" or "Health Warning" should be used to indicate that a health warning message is to follow (WHO, 2022). Positively worded messages perform better e.g., "reduce your risk" and language that refers to causality and risk such as "increased risk" is more believable than "can cause" or "may contribute to" (WHO, 2022). Labels messaging should be provided in both English and French and a weblink to a Health Canada website with more information should be provided (See <u>labelling regulations</u> in Ireland).

4.2 Recommended content for standard drink information message

Number of standard drinks¹ per container of alcohol should be displayed to one decimal point E.g., "X.X standard drinks" in both English and French (NASAC, 2017). The format of standard drink information would be static across alcohol products with the number of drinks adjusted depending on % of alcohol by volume in a container. Standard drink information should follow recommended visibility requirements (i.e., prominently displayed, and legible under normal conditions of purchase and use), see Appendix A and C for examples. Standard drink information should be displayed in a mandatory specified location of the packaging and coupled with the national alcohol drinking guideline information.

4.3 Recommended content for national drinking guideline information message

National alcohol drinking guideline information should be a static message, communicated in both English and French, across all alcohol products and include description of Canada's new no-risk, increasing-risk, and high-risk thresholds for alcohol use (e.g., risk zones). National drinking guideline information should follow recommended visibility requirements (i.e., prominently displayed, and legible under normal conditions of purchase and use) and should be displayed in a mandatory specified location of the packaging coupled with standard drink information.

4.4 Recommended content for simplified nutrition fact table and calorie information

Mandatory labelling for nutrition information and calorie content of alcohol beverages already exists for some products in Canada and should be applied to all alcoholic beverages. Canadian consumers should be informed about the nutrition content of alcoholic beverages, however, as noted above, implementation of health messages should be prioritized. If addressing nutrition and calorie content creates delay or impediments to the process a separate process should be sought.

¹ a standard drink = 13.45mg of ethanol

5. Display of health messages and rotation of health warning message label content

Health messages including health warning messages, standard drink information, and national drinking guidelines should be displayed on all alcohol products (as well as nutrition/calorie content with caveat noted above (CAPE, 2022)). Health warning messages covering all six of the topics listed in section 4.1 should *rotate* within a 12-month period (PAHO, 2022; WHO, 2022) alongside *static* information on standard drink and national alcohol drinking guideline information. As is the case for Canadian <u>tobacco</u> and <u>cannabis</u> warning messages, all six topics of health warning messages should be displayed on each type of container of each brand name of the alcohol product that is packaged in a year (i.e., one health warning message per container), so that each message is displayed, to the extent possible, on equal numbers of containers of that product (Government of Canada, 2019). All health warning messages should be displayed using a rotation scheme that ensures warning messages cannot be selectively applied to specific products (e.g., pregnancy warning on products less likely to be purchased by women). To maintain their effectiveness and impact over time, health warning messages need to be rotated within and across products and updated regularly (Hammond et al., 2006).

6. Prominence of the label - mandatory location, size, and colour

The health warning messages should appear in a mandatory location of the front principal display panel, comprise at least 30% of the principal display panel, be displayed on a solid and contrasting background colour (e.g. yellow background with red and/or black text) (PAHO, 2022; Kokele et al., 2021), see Appendix D for examples of voluntary temporary full-colour label/packaging changes for alcohol products. Similar to cannabis warning messages set in regulation, health warning messages for alcohol should have a minimum font size that exceeds that of the other health messaging labeling components.

Standard drink and national alcohol drinking guideline information should follow established requirements for nutrition facts table formats including occupying at minimum percentage of the available display surface, sufficient contrast between the text and the solid background (e.g., white background with black text) and should be a legible under customer conditions of purchase and use, e.g., minimum of 6-point font. Labelling requirements should also specify a mandatory location on the package for the standard drink and national alcohol drinking guideline information.

7. Pictorial content of labels

Warning messages should be supported by graphics, images, or symbols (PAHO, 2022) and follow best practices as noted in the evidence around tobacco warning labels (See <u>Government of Canada 2022</u>). These visual elements serve to draw increase attention to the warning and help to convey information and are an important tool to bridge any literacy or educational gaps (WHO, 2022).

8. Alcohol industry involvement

Representatives of the alcohol industry should not have any input on the legislation, development, placement, content, size, or style of the mandatory health warning messages implemented on alcohol products (see Stockwell et al., 2020).

9. Review and evaluation of health messages

The implementation of mandatory health messages on alcohol products in Canada should include thirdparty review and evaluation (free of alcohol industry involvement) to measure the efficacy and impact of the labels from a public health perspective. Design, content, and rotation sequencing of the health warning messages should also be evaluated and updated based on the latest evidence of effectiveness for alcohol warning labels and other relevant factors such as updated national alcohol drinking guidelines, and emerging evidence on alcohol-related harms.

10. Evidence related to alcohol warning labels, real-world evaluations, and impacts on behaviour change

Labelling alcohol products with warnings, standard drink information, national drinking guidelines and calories, etc. is based principally on a consumer's 'right to know'-- and the government's duty to inform - about the contents and attendant risks of commercially available products, particularly when those products are intoxicating, addictive carcinogens and leading public health hazards. Approximately three quarters of Canadians are unaware of the link between alcohol and cancer (Hobin et al., 2020b; Canadian Cancer Society, 2016; Sanderson et al., 2009). These levels of awareness have remained relatively stable over the past 15 years, suggesting the current mechanisms for informing consumers such as "Please Drink Responsibly" messaging are ineffective. As such, mandatory labelling is rooted in social justice, and a common-sense undertaking that is well supported by Canadians (Vallance et al., 2020b; Schoueri-Mychasiw et al., 2020) and should require compelling evidence of public harms for it *not* to be done. Finally, labelling for cannabis is required in Canada even though there is a paucity of evidence about direct impacts of cannabis labelling on behaviour change.

There is a robust and growing body of evidence that supports the implementation of alcohol health warning labels on alcohol containers (Kokole, Anderson & Jane-Llopis, 2021). Although we have largely focused on evidence for AWLs, the evidence supporting AWLs is consistent with that on the impacts of warning labels for tobacco, which has been implemented in Canada. Comprehensive health warning labels on tobacco products influence social norms, improve health knowledge, increase quit attempts, and reduce consumption (WHO Europe, 2014; McNeill et al., 2017; Hammond, 2011).

The Yukon study of AWLs, and work by Greenfield et al. (1999) on warning labels in the US in the late 1990s, are two real world studies of AWL labels both of which show positive impacts in terms of reduced drinking behaviours, alcohol sales, self-reported drinking or increased awareness of alcohol as a health issue (Hobin et al., 2020a; 2020b; Zhao et al., 2020; Greenfield, Graves & Kaskutas, 1999). In addition, experimental and quasi-experimental studies across a range of online and laboratory settings find that health warning labels on alcohol products slow down drinking, decrease drinking occasions, decrease purchase occasions, and are associated with decreases in self-reported drinking for health reasons, intentions to reduce consumption, reduced alcohol sales and increased awareness of alcohol-related health risks (Kokole, Anderson & Jane-Llopis, 2021; WHO, 2022).

Label design and content play an important role in their effectiveness. In order to increase awareness and change behaviour labels need to be noticed and their content understood (WHO, 2022). This is important because consumers have a right to know the inherent risks associated with the use of alcohol, a right that is currently unmet in Canada (Shelley, 2021). By providing clear, complete, and current information that is prominently displayed on a product consumers will be better positioned to make informed choices compared to the current labels which do not carry adequate information to support informed decision-making. The provision of adequate health warning messages paired with national alcohol drinking guideline and standard drink information addresses manufacturers' duty to warn consumers of the risks associated with the use of their product, a standard that is heightened when a product is meant for human consumption. Additionally, the findings on the impacts of AWLs must be interpreted with the *goals* of the labels in mind and the broader policy context within which they are implemented. We must consider whether the label was designed to influence behaviour, to raise awareness, or both. Increased awareness plays an important role in behaviour change and shifting the culture around alcohol use (Wilkinson & Room, 2009). Specifically, an *indirect* relationship between impacts on awareness and behaviour change may exist. Health warning labels can be used as one tool to raise awareness about the health-related harm of alcohol consumption and in turn impact consumption. Furthermore, real world evidence suggests that increased awareness about the risks related to alcohol use, which can be enhanced through labelling, may ultimately lead to greater public support for policies that reduce the acceptability, availability and affordability of alcohol use, leading to reduced consumption over time (Weerasinghe et al., 2020). Finally, the effect of labels is optimized when reinforced by other policies that support the labels (e.g. government social marketing and public campaigns) and curb consumption (e.g. availability and pricing controls) (WHO, 2022).

References

Canadian Alcohol Policy Evaluation (CAPE) Project. (2022). Canadian Alcohol Policy Evaluation 3.0 Scoring Rubric. University of Victoria, Canadian Institute for Substance Use Research. June 2022.

Canadian Cancer Society (2016). The truth about alcohol. Accessed here: http://www.cancer.ca/en/about-us/news/on/2016/february/story4/?region=on

Government of Canada, Packaging and labelling guide for cannabis products: Requirements under the Cannabis Act and the Cannabis Regulations. Publication No. 190293. Government of Canada. Accessed June 2022: <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/documents/services/cannabis-regulations-licensed-producers/packaging-labelling-guide-cannabis-products/CURRENT_PUBLISHED_Packaging_and_labelling_guide_for_cannabis_products.PDF</u>

Government of Ireland. Labelling of alcohol products and notices in licensed premises. Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018. https://www.irishstatutebook.ie/eli/2018/act/24/section/12/enacted/en/html

Government of Ireland. Notification of Draft Regulations under Section 12 of the Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018 to the European Commission. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/growth/tools-</u> <u>databases/tris/index.cfm/en/search/?trisaction=search.detail&year=2022&num=441&mLang=EN</u>.

Hammond, D. (2011). Health warnings on tobacco products: a review. Tobacco Control, 20(5):327–37 (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21606180</u>).

Hammond, D., Fong, G. T., McNeill, A., Borland, R., & Cummings, K. M. (2006). Effectiveness of cigarette warning labels in informing smokers about the risks of smoking: findings from the International Tobacco Control (ITC) Four Country Survey. Tobacco control, 15 Suppl 3(Suppl 3), iii19–iii25. https://doi.org/10.1136/tc.2005.012294

Hobin, E.; Shokar, S.; Vallance, K.; Hammond, D.; McGavock, J.; Greenfield, T.K.; Schoueri-Mychasiw, N.; Paradis, C.; Stockwell, T. (2020a). Communicating risks to drinkers: Testing alcohol labels with a cancer warning and national drinking guidelines in Canada. Can. J. Public Health, 111, 716–725.

Hobin, E.; Weerasinghe, A.; Vallance, K.; Hammond, D.; McGavock, J.; Greenfield, T.K.; Schoueri-Mychasiw, N.; Paradis, C.; Stockwell, T. (2020b). Testing Alcohol Labels as a Tool to Communicate Cancer Risk to Drinkers: A Real-World Quasi-Experimental Study. J. Stud. Alcohol Drugs, 81, 249–261.

International Agency for Research on Cancer. IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Volume 96: Alcohol consumption and ethyl carbamate. Lyon, France: Author; 2010a. Retrieved from https://monographs.iarc.fr/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/mono96.pdf.

Kokole, D., Anderson, P., & Jané-Llopis, E. (2021). Nature and Potential Impact of Alcohol Health Warning Labels: A Scoping Review. Nutrients, 13(9), 3065. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13093065

McNeill A, Gravely S, Hitchman SC, Bauld L, Hammond D, Hartmann-Boyce J. (2017). Tobacco packaging design for reducing tobacco use. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, (4).

National Alcohol Strategy Advisory Committee. (2015). What is a Drink? Communicating Drink Information to the Consumer. Ottawa: Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse.

Osiowy, M., Stockwell, T., Zhao, J., Thompson, K., & Moore, S. (2015). How much did you actually drink last night? an evaluation of standard drink labels as an aid to monitoring personal consumption. Addiction Research & Theory, 23(2), 163–169. doi: 10.3109/16066359.2014.955480

Pan American Health Organization (2022). Alcohol Warning Labels.

Priore, B., Stockwell, T., Zhao, J., Goulet-Stock, S., & Kruisselbrink, D. (2022). Investigating young adults' perceptions of seven alcohol warning labels and their tolerance levels to the premature mortality risks associated with alcohol consumption. Open Science Framework: https://osf.io/h945w/.

Sanderson S.C., Waller J., Jarvis M.J., Humphries S.E., Wardle J. Awareness of lifestyle risk factors for cancer and heart disease among adults in the UK. Patient Educ. Couns. 2009;74:221–227.

Schoueri-Mychasiw, N., Weerasinghe, A., Vallance, K., Stockwell, T., Zhao, J., Hammond, D., McGavock, J., Greenfield, T. K., Paradis, C., & Hobin, E. (2020). Examining the Impact of Alcohol Labels on Awareness and Knowledge of National Drinking Guidelines: A Real-World Study in Yukon, Canada. *Journal of studies on alcohol and drugs*, *81*(2), 262–272. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2020.81.262

Shelley, J. (2021). A reflection on the duty to warn after Létourneau v JTI-MacDonald: A future for obesity litigation in Canada? McGill JL & Health, 159: 14-2.

Sherk, A., Naimi, T. S., Stockwell, T., & Hobin, E. (2019). Calorie Intake from Alcohol in Canada: Why New Labelling Requirements are Necessary. *Canadian journal of dietetic practice and research : a publication of Dietitians of Canada = Revue canadienne de la pratique et de la recherche en dietetique : une publication des Dietetistes du Canada, 80*(3), 111–115. https://doi.org/10.3148/cjdpr-2018-046

Shield, K., Manthey, J., Rylett, M., Probst, C., Wettlaufer, A., Parry, C., & Rehm, J. (2020). National, regional, and global burdens of disease from 2000 to 2016 attributable to alcohol use: a comparative risk assessment study. *The Lancet. Public health*, *5*(1), e51–e61. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30231-2

Shelley, J. (2021). A reflection on the duty to warn after Létourneau v JTI-MacDonald: A future for obesity litigation in Canada? McGill JL & Health, 159: 14-2.

Stockwell, T., Solomon, R., O'Brien, P., Vallance, K., & Hobin, E. (2020). Cancer warning labels on alcohol containers: A consumer's right to know, a government's responsibility to inform, and an industry's power to thwart. Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 81, 284–292. doi:10.15288/jsad.2020.81.284

Stockwell, T., Wettlaufer, A., Vallance, K., Chow, C., Giesbrecht, N., April, N., Asbridge, M., Callaghan, R.C., Cukier, S., Davis-MacNevin, P., Dube, M., Hynes, G., Mann, R., Solomon, R., Thomas, G., Thompson, K. (2019). Strategies to Reduce Alcohol-Related Harms and Costs in Canada: A Review of Provincial and Territorial Policies. Victoria, BC: Canadian Institute for Substance Use Research, University of Victoria

Vallance, K., Stockwell, T., Hammond, D., Shokar, S., Schoueri-Mychasiw, N., Greenfield, T., McGavock, J., Zhao, J., Weerasinghe, A., & Hobin, E. (2020a). Testing the Effectiveness of Enhanced Alcohol Warning Labels and Modifications Resulting From Alcohol Industry Interference in Yukon, Canada: Protocol for a Quasi-Experimental Study. *JMIR research protocols*, *9*(1), e16320. https://doi.org/10.2196/16320

Vallance, K., Stockwell, T., Zhao, J., Shokar, S., Schoueri-Mychasiw, N., Hammond, D., Greenfield, T. K., McGavock, J., Weerasinghe, A., & Hobin, E. (2020b). Baseline Assessment of Alcohol-Related Knowledge of and Support for Alcohol Warning Labels Among Alcohol Consumers in Northern Canada and

Associations With Key Sociodemographic Characteristics. Journal of studies on alcohol and drugs, 81(2), 238–248. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2020.81.238

Weerasinghe, A., Schoueri-Mychasiw, N., Vallance, K., Stockwell, T., Hammond, D., McGavock, J., Greenfield, T. K., Paradis, C., & Hobin, E. (2020). Improving Knowledge that Alcohol Can Cause Cancer is Associated with Consumer Support for Alcohol Policies: Findings from a Real-World Alcohol Labelling Study. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *17*(2), 398. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17020398

Wettlaufer A. (2018). Can a Label Help me Drink in Moderation? A Review of the Evidence on Standard Drink Labelling. Substance use & misuse, 53(4), 585–595. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2017.1349798

Wettlaufer, A., Vallance, K., Chow, C., Stockwell, T., Giesbrecht, N., April, N., Asbridge, M., Callaghan, R.C., Cukier, S., Hynes, G., Mann, R., Solomon, R., Thomas, G., Thompson, K. (2019). Strategies to Reduce Alcohol-Related Harms and Costs in Canada: A Review of Federal Policies. Victoria, BC: Canadian Institute for Substance Use Research, University of Victoria.

Wilkinson, C., & Room, R. (2009). Warnings on alcohol containers and advertisements: International experience and evidence on effects. Drug and Alcohol Review, 28, 426-435.

World Health Organization Europe (2014). Evidence brief. How large pictorial health warnings on the packaging of tobacco products affect knowledge and behaviour. WHO Regional Office of Europe, Copenhagen, Denmark.

World Health Organization (2022). Health warning labels on alcoholic beverages: opportunities for informed and healthier choices. Geneva: 2022. (Snapshot series on alcohol control policies and practice. Brief 4, 8 November 2021) Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

World Health Organization (2022). Health warning labels on alcoholic beverages: opportunities for informed and healthier choices. Geneva: 2022. (Snapshot series on alcohol control policies and practice. Brief 4, 8 November 2021) Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Zhao, J., Stockwell, T., Vallance, K., & Hobin, E. (2020). The Effects of Alcohol Warning Labels on Population Alcohol Consumption: An Interrupted Time Series Analysis of Alcohol Sales in Yukon, Canada. Journal of studies on alcohol and drugs, 81(2), 225–237.

Appendix A: Examples of alcohol health information labels



Source: Yukon Alcohol Warning Labels Study (Vallance et al., 2020a)

HEALTH CANADA ADVISES*:	HEALTH CANADA ADVISES*:	HEALTH CANADA ADVISES*:
ONE STANDARD DRINK CONSUMED EVERY DAY SHORTENS LIFE EXPECTANCY BY ABOUT 3 MONTHS	EVERY INDIVIDUAL DRINK CONSUMED SHORTENS LIFE EXPECTANCY BY ABOUT 5 MINUTES	ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION INCREASES RISK OF BREAST, COLON AND OTHER CANCERS

Source: Priore et al., 2022

Appendix B: Examples of cannabis and tobacco warning labels

Health warning messages – cigarettes: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/publications/healthy-living/health-labels-cigarettes-little-cigars.html#info

Health warning messages – cannabis: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugsmedication/cannabis/laws-regulations/regulations-support-cannabis-act/health-warning-messages.html

Appendix C: Examples of standard drink information labels



Australia and New Zealand: Labelling of alcoholic beverages (foodstandards.gov.au)

Appendix D: Examples of manufacturer-initiated changes to product packaging including full-colour packaging and labelling











Crystal Head Vodka

Absolute vodka

Bud light

Barefoot wines

Cool Cat wine spritzer